SUPREME COURT NO: 93132-9

COURT OF APPEALS

Division of
STATE OF WY HINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 32473-7--III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

John D. Kovacs,

FILED AUG 2 4 2015

Petitioner,

٧.

CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Department of Labor & Industries,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

Law Offices of Thomas L. Doran, PLLC Thomas L. Doran WSBA No. 11250 301 W. Indiana, Lower Level P.O. Box 74 Spokane, WA 99210 (509)777-0600 Attorney for Petitioner

VI.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
VII.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 6
	The clear meaning of RCW 51.28.050 directs a reversal of the decision below
	2. The Supreme Court should accept review to resolve conflicting dicta regarding this issue 8
VIII.	CONCLUSION
IX.	APPENDIX

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
142 Wash.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001)
Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist. No. 2,
177 Wn.2d 221, 231, 298 P.3d 741 (2013)7
Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
109 Wash.2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987)
Ferguson v. Department of Labor & Industries,
168 Wash. 677, 13 P.2d 39 (1932) 8
Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc.,
166 Wn.2d 1; 201 P.3d 1011 (2009)
<u>John D. Kovacs v. Department of Labor & Industries</u> , Number
324737, Wn.App, P.3d, (2015) 4, 6, 7, 8, 10
McIndoe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,
144 Wash.2d 252, 256, 26 P.3d 903 (<i>2001</i>)11
Nelson v. Department of Labor & Industries,
9 Wn.2d 621, 115 P.2d 1014 (1941) 8, 9, 10

Read v. Department of Labor & Industries,				
163 Wash. 251. 1 P.2D 234 (1931)				
Sandahl v. Department of Labor & Industries,				
170 Wash. 380, 16 P.2d 623 (1932) 9				
Wilbur v. Department of Labor & Industries,				
38 Wn.App 553, 688 P.2d 509 (1984) 9, 10				
<u>Statutes</u>				
RCW 1.12.040				
RCW 51.04.010				
RCW 51.12.010				
RCW 51.28.050				
RCW 51.28.055				
Other Authorities				
<u>In Re Gwen Carey</u>				
No. 03 13790, 2005 WL 1658424 (Board of Industrial Insurance				
Appeals, 2005)				

III. Identity of Petitioner

The Petitioner is John D. Kovacs, injured worker/claimant at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, Plaintiff in Spokane County Superior Court, and Respondent at the Washington State Court of Appeals, Division Three.

IV. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

The Court of Appeals Decision is <u>John D. Kovacs v. Department</u>

<u>of Labor & Industries</u>, Number 324737, __ Wn.App __, __ P.3d. __,

(2015).

V. Issue Presented for Review

1. RCW 51.28.050 states, in relevant part:

No application shall be valid or claim thereunder enforceable unless filed within one year **after** the day upon which the injury occurred. (Emphasis supplied.)

Is a claim filed on September 29, 2011 within one year after September 29, 2010?

VI. Statement of the Case

Mr. Kovacs sustained an industrial injury on September 29, 2010. He

filed an application for benefits on September 29, 2011. The claim was allowed by Order of the Department dated March 2, 2012. The employer timely protested that Order, alleging that the application for benefits was not timely filed pursuant to RCW 51.28.050. The Department affirmed the Order. The employer protested an "appealable only" Order, and the Department, on June 28, 2012, reversed its decision, rejecting the claim. Plaintiff timely appealed this Order to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. No testimony was adduced at the Board, given that this is an issue of law, not of fact. The Board, relying on its significant decision, *In Re Gwen Carey*, No. 03 13790, 2005 WL 1658424 (Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, 2005), affirmed the Department's decision rejecting the claim.

The Superior Court reversed, having reviewed all of the pleadings, the oral argument both at the Board and the Court, and having reviewed all relevant case law including *In Re Gwen Carey*.

The Court also reviewed the relevant statutes, RCW 51.28.050 and RCW 1.12.040.

The Court of Appeals reversed the Superior Court, holding that

it was bound by specious dicta in a Supreme Court case.

The two relevant statutes are consistent with one another, and support Mr. Kovacs' claim. The Department of Labor & Industries erroneously and repeatedly states that Mr. Kovacs' application must be filed "within one year of the injury." That is not the case. His claim, to be timely, must be filed "within one year **after** the injury." He complied, and his claim was timely.

VII. Argument Why Review Should be Accepted

 The clear meaning of RCW 51.28.050 directs a reversal of the decision below.

"The Department of Labor & Industries (DLI) ignores a critical word in the controlling statute, snubs a companion statute, promotes old bad dicta rather than new good dicta, and shuns the liberality intended for worker compensation statutes." <u>John D. Kovacs v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, Number 324737, __ Wn.App __, __ P.3d. __, (2015), dissent, p. 1.

The Court of Appeals majority falls into the trap set by the Department of ignoring the word AFTER in the statute. The

Department repeatedly stated that the application need be filed within one year of the injury. (Department's COA brief, pages "i" and 1.) This ignores the word 'after." The law requires that ALL the language in a statute be given effect. *Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist. No. 2*, 177 Wn.2d 221, 231, 298 P.3d 741 (2013).

RCW 1.12.040 states:

The time within which an act is to be done, as herein provided, shall be computed by **excluding the first day**, and including the last, unless the last day is a holiday, Saturday, or Sunday, and then it is also excluded. (Emphasis supplied.)

If each word in RCW 51.28.050 is given meaning, the two statutes are NOT in conflict. Kovacs' interpretation is a reasonable one, and thus there is no inconsistency between the two counting statutes. <u>John D. Kovacs v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, Number 324737, __ Wn.App __, __ P.3d. __, (2015), dissent, p. 5. **September 29, 2011 is within one year after September 29, 2010**. That is not only common sense, it is the only rational way to count time. As the dissent below stated, every birthday would have to be celebrated a day earlier than is universally accepted in society. September 29th of each year is the anniversary of September 29 of the preceding year.

2. The Supreme Court should accept review to resolve conflicting dicta regarding this issue.

The majority states it is bound by <u>Nelson v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, 9 Wn.2d 621, 115 P.2d 1014 (1941). There is language in that case which supports the Department's position herein. However, that language is dicta and, as the dissent herein states, it is "specious dicta." <u>John D. Kovacs v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, Number 324737, __ Wn.App __, __ P.3d. __, (2015), dissent, p. 2. There was **no issue** in <u>Nelson</u> regarding the commencement of the one year statute of limitations for claim filling. The dictum in <u>Nelson</u> was apparently based on several previous cases, all cited in the Department's COA brief. **None of these cases are on point**, and **none** state what they are purported to state by the Department or the <u>Nelson</u> court.

In *Read v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 163 Wash. 251.

1 P.2D 234 (1931), the claimant was injured on September 17, 1924.

He filed his claim on January 19, 1929. There is **NO** discussion of when the statute begins to run!

In Ferguson v. Department of Labor & Industries, 168 Wash.

677, 13 P.2d 39 (1932), the issue was aggravation of an injury. The case hinged on whether an application to reopen a claim was filed within three years of the original injury. Again, there is **NO** discussion of when the statute begins to run!

In <u>Sandahl v. Department of Labor & Industries</u>, 170 Wash. 380, 16 P.2d 623 (1932), the claimant was injured on July 3, 1929. His claim for injury was filed January 30, 1931. The claim was rejected because it was not timely filed.

The more apropos statement by the Courts of this state is in *Wilbur v. Department of Labor & Industries*, 38 Wn.App 553, 688 P.2d 509 (1984). In *Wilbur*, the claimant sustained an industrial injury on August 5, 1977. The Court held that

Wilbur's claim had to be filed on or before Monday, August 7, 1978 (**August 5, 1978, 1 year after the injury**, fell on a Saturday). (Emphasis supplied.)

This statement clearly was issued AFTER <u>Nelson</u>, and it is totally consistent with a **full** reading of the statute, not the convoluted reading suggested by the Department of Labor & Industries.

//

VIII. Conclusion

The majority opinion herein is in direct contradiction with the relevant language in *Wilbur*. Petitioner is asking this Court to clarify, once and for all, that the general counting statute, RCW 1.12.040 and RCW 51.28.050 are consistent. Otherwise, there may be uncertainty for injured persons in this state regarding the method of calculating one year. "DLI places a technical construction on RCW 51.28.050 that creates a snare for working people, since DLI's reading conflicts with an interpretation given by a lay person." *John D. Kovacs v. Department of Labor & Industries*, Number 324737, __ Wn.App __, __ P.3d. __, (2015), dissent, p. 7.

It is **in the public interest** for there to be continuity in the law. It is **in the public interest** for there to be no doubt that a year is a year. The anomaly created by the majority opinion herein is that "a year is a year," except in workers' compensation cases. This does not make any sense. There is no rational reason for there to be any difference between calculating a year in a personal injury case and in a workers' compensation case. It is **in the public interest** for there to be uniform recognition that a year is a year: that if you were born

on February 23rd, your birthday celebration should continue to be on February 23rd.

This Court is obviously cognizant of the beneficial purpose of the Industrial Insurance Act. It was designed to provide "sure and certain relief" to injured workers while limiting employer liability for industrial injuries. RCW 51.04.010; Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wash. 2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). Any doubts and ambiguities in the language of the IIA must be resolved in favor of the injured worker in order to minimize "the suffering and economic loss" that may result from work-related injuries. RCW 51.12.010; <u>McIndoe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u>,144 Wash.2d 252, 256, 26 P.3d 903 (*2001*); Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.,142 Wash.2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001) ("[W]here reasonable minds can differ over what Title 51 RCW provisions mean..., the benefit of the doubt belongs to the injured worker.") Harry v. Buse Timber & Sales, Inc., 166 Wn.2d 1; 201 P.3d 1011 (2009). Petitioner asserts the Petition for Review should be granted in order to properly apply this principle to the case herein.