RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 15, 2015, 2:49 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 92122-9

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JOHN D. KOVACS,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

LYNN M. MOUNSEY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 17702 Office Id. No. 91106 1116 W. Riverside Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 456-3123



FILED AS ATTACHMENT TO EMAIL

I.	INTRODUCTION
II.	ISSUE2
III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
	 A. Kovacs Filed His Claim for Benefits One Year and One Day after He Alleges He Was Injured at Work
	B. The Court of Appeals Agreed the Appeal Was Untimely3
IV.	REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED
	A. No Review Is Necessary of a Court of Appeals Decision That Follows Supreme Court Precedent
	 B. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Raised by the Court of Appeals Following the Plain Language of the Statute
V.	CONCLUSION

i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Buchanan v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters, 94 Wn.2d 508, 617 P.2d 1004 (1980)
Hardee v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs. 172 Wn.2d 1, 256 P.3d 339 (2011)
In re Gwen Carey, Nos. 03 13790 and 03 21396, 2005 WL 1658424 (Bd. Ind. Ins. Appeals Mar. 30, 2005)
<i>Kovacs v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</i> , Wn. App,P.3d, 2015 WL 4457461 (July 21, 2015). 3, 4, 7
Kustura v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn.2d 81, 233 P.3d 853 (2010)7
Nelson v. Dep't of Labor & Industries, 9 Wn.2d 621, 115 P. 2d 1014 (1941) passim
Wilbur v. Dep't of Labor & Industries, 38 Wn. App. 553, 686 P.2d 509 (1984)5, 6

<u>Statutes</u>

RCW 1.12.040			
RCW 51.28.025(5)			
RCW 51.28.050	passim		
RCW 51.28.055			
Rules			

nin	10 101) 4	
кар	1 4 4(h	· 2	£.
1 2 1 1	12,10	/	£

I. INTRODUCTION

Despite the plain language of RCW 51.28.050, which requires a worker to apply for workers' compensation benefits "within one year" of the injury, John Kovacs filed his application one day late. When the Department of Labor and Industries (L&I) receives an application for benefits on the three hundred and sixty-sixth day following the occurrence of an alleged industrial injury, it must reject the application as untimely under the statute and under this Court's decision in *Nelson v. Dep't of Labor & Industries*, 9 Wn.2d 621, 632, 115 P. 2d 1014 (1941) which holds that counting commences on the day of the injury.

Applying this long-standing principle to the facts of this case, the Court of Appeals reversed the superior court decision finding that Kovacs' application for benefits was timely. No issue of substantial public interest is raised by construing the plain language of the statute to mean what it says, namely that an application must be filed "within one year" of the injury as confirmed by this Court's decisions. This Court's decisions control over any Court of Appeals decision, and contrary to Kovacs's assertion, no Court of Appeals case has held that a worker may file an application for benefits on the 366th day. This Court should deny review.

II. ISSUE

The Supreme Court decided more than seventy years ago that the statute of limitations in RCW 51.28.050 commences on the day of the industrial injury. RCW 51.28.050 bars a claim for benefits unless the claimant files it "within one year after the day upon which the injury occurred." Does the one-year statute of limitations under RCW 51.28.050 bar Kovacs' claim for benefits when it is undisputed that he filed his claim one day after the year expired?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Kovacs Filed His Claim for Benefits One Year and One Day after He Alleges He Was Injured at Work

Kovacs alleged he was injured while working for his employer on September 29, 2010. Certified Appeal Board Record (BR) 12, 33, 38, 42, 48. He filed an application for workers' compensation benefits with L&I on September 29, 2011. BR 12, 33, 38, 42, 48. L&I rejected it as untimely under RCW 51.28.050's statute of limitations. BR 21. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals affirmed L&I's order. BR 1. It relied upon *In re Gwen Carey*, Nos. 03 13790 and 03 21396, 2005 WL 1658424 (Bd. Ind. Ins. Appeals Mar. 30, 2005); BR 11-13. *Carey* followed the Supreme Court's *Nelson* decision that the statute of limitation commences on the day of the injury. BR 11-12. Applying *Nelson*, the Board decided, Kovacs's application should have been filed on September 28, 2011, not September 29, 2011. BR 12.

B. The Court of Appeals Agreed the Appeal Was Untimely

Kovacs appealed to the superior court, which reversed the Board. CP 1, 20-23. The Court of Appeals reversed the superior court. *Kovacs v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, ____Wn. App. __, __P.3d ___, 2015 WL 4457461 (July 21, 2015) (hereinafter "slip op."). Following *Nelson*, the Court of Appeals held that the plain language of RCW 51.28.050 requires an application be filed "within one year," with counting commencing on the day of injury. Slip op. at 3-5, 8. Thus, the general counting statute in RCW 1.12.040 does not apply because it conflicts with the specific requirements of RCW 51.28.050. Slip op. at 7.

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Kovacs presents no valid reason warranting Supreme Court review of the decision that Kovacs did not comply with RCW 51.28.050. This statute requires a worker to file an industrial insurance application "within one year" after the injury:

> No application shall be valid or claim thereunder enforceable unless filed within one year after the day upon which the injury occurred or the rights of dependents or beneficiaries accrued, except as provided in RCW 51.28.055 and 51.28.025(5).

As this Court explained in *Nelson*, the Legislature decided that if a worker fails to file his or her initial application for benefits for an industrial injury within one year commencing from the date of the injury, he or she may not receive workers' compensation benefits. RCW 51.28.050; *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 632. The Legislature has not disturbed that interpretation in the 74 years since *Nelson*. Kovacs effectively seeks to overturn *Nelson*, asking for a ruling that commencement does not begin on the date of the injury, but rather the day after the injury's occurrence such as the counting method used under the default civil counting statute, RCW 1.12.040. Pet. 10.

The Court of Appeals adhered to *Nelson* and held that under RCW 51.28.050 counting begins on the day of the injury, and the general civil counting statute does not supersede the specific provision in RCW 51.28.050. Slip op. at 7. Kovacs shows no conflict or issue of substantial public interest supporting a rejection of the long-applied holding in the *Nelson* decision. RAP 13.4(b). Nor does he demonstrate that the *Nelson* decision is incorrect and harmful. *See Hardee v. Dep't of Soc.* & *Health Servs.*, 172 Wn.2d 1, 15, 256 P.3d 339 (2011) ("We will not overrule a precedent unless there is a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful.") (Internal quotations and citation omitted).

A. No Review Is Necessary of a Court of Appeals Decision That Follows Supreme Court Precedent

The Court of Appeals properly followed this Court's decision requiring commencement of the statute of limitations period on the day of the injury. Kovacs is incorrect when he argues that none of the cases cited by the Court of Appeals discussed the commencement date for RCW 51.28.050's statute of limitations. Pet. 8-9. In *Nelson*, this Court specifically directed that "This court has established the rule that the one year period in which the claim must be filed commences to run on the day of the accident." *See Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 632; BR 11.

Nelson specifically considered a question as to whether the statute of limitations was met and in order to do so it is necessary to state the beginning date. Nelson, 9 Wn.2d at 632. Kovacs asks this Court to "accept review to resolve conflicting dicta" regarding RCW 51.28.050, meaning he claims that the Supreme Court precedent conflicts with Court of Appeals decision in Wilbur v. Dep't of Labor & Industries, 38 Wn. App. 553, 556, 686 P.2d 509 (1984). Pet. 8. There is no basis to review a petition on an asserted dicta conflict between a Supreme Court case and a Court of Appeals case. Instead, the Court of Appeals is required to follow the Supreme Court. In any event, Wilbur does not conflict with Nelson because it did not analyze RCW 51.28.050 to determine what the statute

means. *Wilbur* did not cite *Nelson* or distinguish it or disagree with it. But even if it had disagreed with *Nelson*, this Court's decision in *Nelson* unambiguously controls: "the one year period in which the claim must be filed commences to run on the day of the accident." *See Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 632; BR 11.

It is significant that the Legislature has not chosen to amend the statute to change its plain language meaning in the years since *Nelson*, thus showing that the Legislature has adopted the interpretation given the statute by the Court. *See Buchanan v. Int'l Bhd. of Teamsters*, 94 Wn.2d 508, 511, 617 P.2d 1004 (1980) (Legislature's failure to amend a statute in the 17 years since the Court's decision interpreting that statute convinced Court that the Legislature concurred in that interpretation.). Review is not warranted to review the time-tested and Legislature-approved rule in *Nelson*.

B. No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Is Raised by the Court of Appeals Following the Plain Language of the Statute

Kovacs presents no issue of substantial public interest. Kovacs understands that the period is a "year" in RCW 51.28.050 and indeed says there is a public interest in recognizing that a year is a year. Pet. 10. But, contrary to Kovacs representation, "Each calendar year begins on January 1 and ends on December 31, not at the end of the succeeding January 1."

Slip op. at 7-8 n. 2 (citing *Carey*, 2005 WL 1658424, *3.). To give plain meaning to the term a "year," the end of the year cannot occur the day after the end of the year. Kovacs instead wishes the Court to follow an anniversary date approach (Pet. 7, 10-11), but the Legislature provided that counting should commence on the day of the injury and rejected this approach. By crafting the specific language of "within one year" in RCW 51.28.050, the Legislature also rejected use of the general counting provision in RCW 1.12.040. *See Kustura v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 169 Wn.2d 81, 88, 233 P.3d 853 (2010) (specific statute prevails over general one if consistent with legislative intent).

Kovacs misapprehended the plain language of the statute. His failure to follow it does not create an issue of substantial public interest meriting review. Rather, the interest in a consistent rule is served by leaving in place an interpretation of RCW 51.28.050 that has been in place for seven decades. Seventy-four years of consistent interpretation of this statute benefits workers precisely because of its long-time consistency. The fact that Kovacs missed the deadline does not demonstrate that the *Nelson* rule is antagonistic to workers; it indicates only that this worker missed the deadline. It would be no different if the statute of limitations had ended a day later; if Kovacs missed that deadline, it also would not demonstrate that the statute of limitations is counter to workers.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly applied the long-established rule that the statute of limitations commencement date for an injured worker's initial application for benefits is the day of his or her injury. No conflict or issue of substantial public interest merits review. RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 15^{4} day of September, 2015.

8

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

unser

LYNN M. MOUNSEY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 17702 Office Id. No. 91106 1116 W. Riverside Avenue Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 456-3123